
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314226 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: MG/KR/Planning 15.12.20. 
 

Please ask for: Karen Rist, Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226) 
 
4 December 2020 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 15 December 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

in the Online Meeting - view the meeting at www.mybostonuk.com/youtube 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Chairman:  Councillor Tom Ashton 
Vice Chair:  Councillor  Alison Austin 
Councillors:  Peter Bedford, David Brown, Paul Goodale, Jonathon Noble, Frank Pickett, Brian 
Rush, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, Peter Watson and Judith Welbourn. 
 

 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers 

except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 

 

 

A   APOLOGIES 
 

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 

 

 

B   MINUTES 
 

To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

 

1 - 32 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 

To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

To answer any written questions received from members of the public no 
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 10 December 2020. 

 

 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B.20.0384 
 

Proposed two storey side extension 
 

51 South Parade 
Boston 
PE21 7PN 
 

Mr and Mrs Hunt 

 

33 - 44 

2   RECEIPT OF APPEALS DECISIONS 
 
A report by the Assistant Director – Planning  

 

45 - 54 

 
 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice 
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority 
and not when the Committee makes its decision. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes:  
 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 
In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314226, e-mail: 
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk. 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be 
attending the meeting as their substitute. 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Emergency Procedures 
 

In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building via 

the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point located in 

the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

28 JULY 2020 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Frank Pickett 

Councillors: Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, David Brown, Deborah Evans, 
Jonathan Noble, Brian Rush, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, 
Peter Watson and Stephen Woodliffe 
 

Officers: Legal Advisor, Legal Services Lincolnshire, Growth Manager, 
Democratic Services Manager and Democratic Services Officer 
 

1   APOLOGIES 
 

Apologies for absence were tabled by Councillor Paul Goodale and Councillor Chelcei 
Sharman.  Councillor Deborah Evans substituting for Councillor Sharman. 
 
2   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the planning committee members, the Chairman signed the 
minutes of the previous planning committee meeting held on the 11 February 2020. 
 
3   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
 
Prior to receiving any declarations of interest the Chairman made a statement: 
 

“I would like to remind members that they should approach all items with an open mind 
and any member who may feel conflicted, pre-determined or who cannot approach an 
application with an open mind should declare as such and leave the meeting for that 
item of business” 
 
 

Standing Declarations of Interest are tabled within these minutes for: 
 

Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin and Paul Skinner in their respective roles as 
Lincolnshire County Councillors. 
 

Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin and Peter Bedford in their respective roles as 
members of the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee and 
Councillor Jonathan Noble in his role as a substitute member of the committee. 
 

Councillors Tom Ashton, Peter Bedford, Frank Pickett and Paul Skinner in their 
respective roles as members of the Internal Drainage Boards. 
 
Councillor Peter Bedford declared a prejudicial interest in planning application B 19 
0520 in that he had made previously commented on the application with officers.  
Furthermore, Councillor Bedford referenced the written representation received from 
Hubberts Bridge Community Centre and advised that some of the members of the 
centre were personally known to him, he would absent from the meeting at that point in 
the proceedings. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner declared that whilst both of the applicants on Planning 
Application B 19 0520 where known to him through his work as a portfolio holder he was 
not pre-determined in anyway and would listen and make his decision on the evidence 
presented. 
 
Councillor Peter Watson declared that he was a member of Kirton Parish Council.  He 
further stated that when the Parish Council had considered planning application B 19 
0520 he had taken no part in any discussion any confirmed he would take an open 
approach when determining the application. 
 
Councillor Yvonne Stevens declared that one of the applicants of planning application B 
19 0520 was known to her and they had discussed the matter with her previously.  
However, Councillor Stevens declared that she was not prejudiced by any previous 
discussion undertaken and would address the item with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Jonathon Noble declared that one of the applicants for planning application B 
19 0520 was known to him for a brief time when the applicant had been a former 
Conservative Councillor, however that would not influence any decision he would make 
on the application. 
 
Councillor Stephen Woodliffe declared that Mr Arundel one of the applicants for planning 
application B 19 0520 was known to him.  He further stated that when he previously met 
the application in a local supermarket, the applicant had spoken of his plans.  Councillor 
Woodliffe confirmed that the discussion would not affect his judgement and he would 
vote with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Brian Rush declared that he knew one of the applicants.  He further stated he 
knew many of the residents within the locality of the site for planning application B 19 
0520 from his previous role as Member for Frampton and Kirton Holme.  Councillor 
Rush further confirmed that he had also met with members of the Hubberts Bridge 
Community Centre, but that he was not conflicted by the discussions held and he could 
judge the application with an open mind.   
 
Councillor Deborah Evans declared that whilst she knew one of the applicants, Mr 
Arundell as a former Councillor, she had not spoken with him in respect of application 
nor seen him since he left the Council.  Councillor Evans confirmed she would 
determine the application with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Tom Ashton declared that whilst he had faintly known one of the applicants 
as a previous member of the Council, there had been no degree of closeness nor 
interaction with the applicant and Councillor Ashton confirmed he would determine the 
application on the policies and papers in the report. 
 
Councillor David Brown declared that he had listened to the owner of a nearby caravan 
site but had formed no opinion and would address the application with an open mind.  
He further declared his position as Portfolio Holder for tourism. 
 
The Chairman added that he welcomed Councillor Brown back on to the committee 
noting he was an experienced planning committee member who would be a welcome 
addition to the committee. 
 

Page 2



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

No public question. 
 
 
It is recorded that at this part in the proceedings Councillor Peter Bedford absented from 
the meeting. 
 
 
5   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0520 

 
PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0520 
 
Hybrid planning application seeking:  
 

 Full planning permission for the part change of use of the golf course for the 
siting of caravans with associated works including landscaping, handstandings 
and access routes; provision of a sales area including siting of "show units" and 
associated parking; and  

 
 Outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for the development of a "hub" 

building of up to 12,000sqm total floorspace - to contain an ancillary 
reception/activity centre/spa (Class D2)/retail unit (up to 100sqm)/ food and 
beverage (Classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities management and ancillary works; 
and provision of a sales building and associated works  
 

Boston West Golf Centre, Langrick Road, Hubberts Bridge, Boston, 
Lincolnshire, PE20 3SG 
 
Boston West Golf Limited. 

 
The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee with a summary noted 
below: 
Initially displaying a number of slides, the Growth Manager identified the location of the 
site and neighbouring properties and businesses, along with existing SUD’s features, a 
vista of the clubhouse and the open area within the site for the erection of the caravans 
in the event that committee granted the application. 
 
Drone shots depicted the fairways and the heavily landscaped nature of the area, along 
with the driving range and the driveway through the site. Providing a wider context the 
drone shots further identified vistas across the range; views back to the clubhouse and 
the central fairway relationship with the Boardsides on the southern west boundary,  
 
The western part of the site would be developed out for 300 caravans with associated 
development and associated access roads with a series of circular routes serving the 
caravans.  If granted it was the intent of the applicant to construct the caravans in a 
lodge style comprising a mix of single and double units and the existing access road 
would be used and extended to formalise a route to serve the caravan units.  Each 
lodge would have one car parking space with all existing parking remaining.  
 
 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 
The site was established and verdant and although there would be some impact of 
existing trees within the site, it was relatively minor in the overall arboreal character.  
Boundary treatments were well established and any gaps therein would be sensitively 
re-enforced with additional trees and shrubs.  The northern boundary would see rabbit 
proof fencing and stock fencing installed with knee rail and hand-gate fencing along the 
access. 
 
A detailed heritage impact assessment had concluded the development would not harm 
the area.  Although the site sat in a sensitive location with a number of heritage assets in 
the vicinity it was felt that given the separation distance and the nature and scale of the 
units considered, the application was acceptable. 
 
Archaeological finds had initially recommended trial trenching be implemented for siting 
the Caravans.  However, officers had felt it unnecessary as the nature of excavations for 
hard standing for caravans, was equal to trial trenching and had conditioned that an 
Archaeologist be on site whenever deeper excavation took place. 
 
Two rounds of formal consultation had been undertaken, which had included the 
substantive revisions to the scheme, with third party majority support for the scheme.  
Due to the location of the application site, consultation had taken place with four Parish 
Councils with all feedback taken into consideration. 
Following initial consultation with all the statutory consultees, alongside those with the 
non-statutory consultees, a number of revisions to address the concerns raised had 
resulted in no standing objections from any of the technical consultees. 
   
In lieu of direct public representation at the committee meeting, members of the public 
had tabled submissions in hard copy.  All submissions had been collated and 
undercover of a summary of the contents, been circulated to committee ahead of the 
meeting.  The Growth Manager confirmed that having considered the pack of 
submissions he did not consider that any amendments were required to the application 
tabled. 
 
Addressing policy the Growth Manager confirmed that the application was compliant 
with policies 1 and 9.  The aim of the site was to develop out a viable leisure facility and 
high quality resort and destination, with appropriate submission of the application.  A 
detailed viability assessment proved the decline in membership of the Golf Club 
justifying the request for the change of use.  With the provision of tourism 
accommodation considered acceptable and of a high quality, the development would 
contribute to the immediate rural economy and the wider economy of the borough with 
similar examples of accommodation within the locality.  In principle the Council had no 
objection to all year round use of the site, it was subject to flood risk or ecological risk 
which needed to be weighed up for any restriction on seasonal opening to be imposed. 
  
When consulted, Sport England had raised no objections although the development 
would result in a reduction in the main course.  The 9 hole facility would be retained to 
encourage use of the short format game, along with the driving range, and a condition 
on the Hub would require that it secure further enhancements to the current golf offer. 
 
 
 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

 
A detailed transport assessment by LCC Highways found them to be comfortable with 
the transport statement that considered sustainable transport including rail, bus and the 
Call Connect service.  A £25k developer contribution agreed by the applicant was 
justified with the Call Connect service as the beneficiary of the contribution.  However, in 
the event that the Call Connect service be unable to operate, then the contribution would 
be redistributed. Permission to grant the application was subject to receipt of the 
contribution. 
 
The Parish Councils’ had voiced concern in respect of significant increases in traffic.  
However, the area already experienced varied levels of traffic with visitors to the existing 
hotel, to the function venue facility and to the leisure provision already operating on the 
site.  
 
A flood warning evacuation plan would be in place for the overall site. 
A number of measures would address surface water drainage including drainage ponds 
and a hydro brake system with the adjacent drains managed by the IDB who had raised 
no objection to the application. 
The applicant had originally intended to use package treatment systems for foul water 
drainage but changed to using main drainage following advice by Anglian Water. 
 
Addressing the outline application the Growth Manager confirmed that committee was 
only looking at the principle with all matters being reserved.  The orignal application had 
changed slightly with two buildings now tabled, not the one building as initially intended.  
However the maximum parameter remained the same as did the intended mixed use.  
The appearance and scale were all to be determined at reserved matters. 
 
Concluding the Growth Manager confirmed that the applicant had noted the 
development would be over a 4-phased plan.  Phase 1 would be the consolidation of the 
existing access road; phase 2 up to 709 units and associated infrastructure, Phase 3 up 
to 99 units and associated infrastructure and the final stage being 131 units and 
associated infrastructure.  
 
The applicant envisaged that if permission would be granted, then works could 
commence in a relatively short period with a timescale for completion between 3 to 4 
years. 
 
On conclusion of the presentation, the Chairman thanked the Growth Manager for the 
comprehensive presentation: his comments were echoed by committee members during 
their deliberation. 
 
At this point in the proceedings’ the Clerk sought confirmation that Councillor David 
Brown had been able to hear the full presentation made by the Growth Manager in 
respect of the item, being mindful of technical issues Councillor Brown had experienced 
prior to the presentation taking place. Councillor Brown confirmed he had heard all of 
the Growth Managers representation.  He further tabled a declaration of interest that is 
recorded within item 3 of these minutes. 
 
Significant member debate followed the presentation which included the following 
matters which have been collated to incorporate repetition of comment and also to 
address questioning: 

Page 5



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 
A number of concerns noted the access and egress of the site.  The suggestion of an 
additional access off the A1121 into the site, before the junction bought concerns that it 
would be dangerous and cause more congestion.  However, there was recognition that 
Lincolnshire Highways had undertaken a full survey and supported the application, 
making any refusal on such grounds difficult to defend at appeal.  A member noted that 
returning visitors to the site would be aware they could turn left out of the site to drive 
into the town and referencing increased congestion, suggested that not all guests would 
arrive and depart at the same time. 
Referencing the existing road through the site which served the farm a member felt the 
information to be ambiguous along with the information in respect of the access from 
Kirton Drove and sought clarification 
In response to the above queries the Growth Manager advised as follows: 
The only access arrangements to be determined were those within the application 
before committee. The application did not propose any other access.  If the applicant 
considered an additional entrance in the future, it would come forward for determination 
as its own proposal. 
Kirton Drove was not a primary access. The farm continued to use the access road and 
any change in that agreement was not a planning matter and would be a civil matter 
between the applicant and the farm owners. 
 
The majority of members acknowledged the detailed flood risk and mitigation measures 
taken across the whole site, in respect of both tidal and fluvial flooding, with no 
objections having been raised by the Environment Agency.   
However, one member stated he had reservations in respect of the project on behalf of 
the people of Boston and noted there were one or two gaps in the presentation.   Saying 
he was in support of the project, the member also said the area had experienced severe 
flooding at the nearby Rugby Club.  He further noted the public representation pack 
delivered late the previous day and the Hubberts Bridge Community representation 
therein, which referenced consultation in respect of foul water drainage and asked if the 
matter been addressed thoroughly, to protect the people of Hubberts Bridge.   
In response to the above queries the Growth Manager advised as follows: 
The application contained a detailed flood risk assessment, which was site specific with 
proposed mitigation measures.  The Environment Agency who were the expert body had 
no objections in respect of either tidal or fluvial flooding. The golf course had existing 
drainage arrangements in respect of surface water drainage with both SuDS and 
drainage into a nearby dyke.  The new plan would manage all forms of run-off and 
proposed to collect it and hold it in suds features, linked to balance volume, and where 
there would be outfall into a drain dyke, there would be a hydro break fitted.  From a 
planning perspective, there was sufficient evidence and information to make a decision 
on the matter.  
For the disposal of foul water drainage, it had been the applicant’s intent to use package 
treatment plants on site, which although considered a sustainable form of foul drainage, 
did come with risks. However, the Environment Agency had voiced concerns about the 
number of package treatment plants required and their preference was to connect to 
mains drain disposal. The applicant held revised discussions with Anglian Water to gain 
consent to connect to the network. 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

 
Addressing the question in respect of Hubberts Bridge Community Centre, the Growth 
Manager confirmed that a foul drainage solution connected across their land.  Anglian 
Water who were the statutory undertaker of the equipment had the right to maintain and 
alter any of the existing infrastructure.  Any such change in process being a matter for 
the Water Industry Act and not a matter for planning. 
For reassurance, condition 21 required that further details in respect of connection 
points, timetables and other specifics to be provided, which at the time of submission 
had not been defined. The applicant needed to get the consent of Anglian Water to 
connect to the mains.  Anglian Water would need all that information and more, with 
possible connection costs being required prior to any consent to connect.  Once Anglian 
Water had confirmed the agreement the Council would then discharge condition 21. 
 
Members agreed that the site once developed would create employment and the 
application adhered to Policy P1 as it was economic development and P9 in that it was 
large-scale development outside the boundary on an existing visitor attraction. It further 
adhered to the NPPF in respect of sustainable rural tourism.  Referencing the request 
for the change of use, members agreed that it had been justified by the detailed viability 
assessment, which had proved a decline in membership of the Golf Club provision, 
although a member questioned clarification on the enhancements by the Hub offer. 
Further appreciation noted the confidence in the community by the investors in such 
hard times. The Lincolnshire economy had been moving to support all year round 
tourism and the development would allow that, alongside supporting the town in a 
number of ways, in particular in the winter months with the areas many heritage 
facilities.    
A member questioned that whilst noting the operators’ intent to maintain an up to date 
register, no maximum length of stay appeared to be conditioned.   
A further question asked if neighbouring businesses similar to the application were 
subject to restricted hours or able to trade all year round.  
In response to the above queries the Growth Manager responded as follows: 
Length of stay was not a planning condition and there would be clear justification 
needed, which did not apply to the application under consideration. The Woodlands 
Nature Principle document that the applicant intended to use included a site rule 
requiring lodges to be vacant for four weeks within a year and the applicant proposed 
appropriate breaks of stay.   Currently all sites were different in opening times, however 
the recent Ministerial Statement as a result of Covid-19, emphasised that local 
government needed to be more flexible in respect of opening hours.  That statement 
could also enable existing operators on restricted hours to appeal and amend their 
licence.   
Members were referred to condition 34 addressing the potential of the Hub to improve 
the short form of the Golf offer for the 9 hole course and the putting green. Proof of 
improvements would be required before the Hub could be delivered. 
 
Members also noted serious concerns in respect of issues of safety, lighting and noise 
on the site, with up to a potential of 1200 guests in residence at busy periods. The report 
included no indication of any CCTV coverage or safety measures to protect guests and 
their property.  No detailed lighting scheme had been included which members agreed 
would need to be in keeping with the site, whilst also ensuring secure visibility for 
guests.  Furthermore members agreed any lighting should not impact on any 
neighbouring properties and not affect the wildlife of the site.  Ideally no LED lighting 
would be proposed.   

Page 7



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 
 
There were no noise mitigation measures within the report, which again at peak times 
could be significant unless controlled, to reflect the feel of the site and protect 
neighbouring residents and guests.   The lack of footpaths both within the site itself both 
through to the caravan areas and from the main entrance to the A1221 was also 
concerning. 
In response to the above queries the Growth Manager advised as follows: 
Security could be a material consideration addressed under issues of design; however, 
no detailed CCTV operation was included. That said, the Woodlands Nature Principle 
document set out how the operator should manage the site.  As the operator would be 
providing a high quality site, it was considered this was a matter predominantly for the 
operator in relation to the site rules, to manage a site.  The onus would be on them as 
the operator to have responsibility and due regard for the people on the site.  The 
applicant had paid full consideration to issues of noise and disturbance at all stages of 
the application including neighbouring amenity.   
There had been no objection from Environmental Health in respect of any noise 
pollution.  Background noise from traffic at certain times of the day would occur, 
however the extent of the site relationship with neighbouring properties was deemed to 
be a reasonable distance and in some instances a long distance.  
Condition 14 required full detail of the type of lighting and illumination proposed for use.  
Minimal level lighting was required as it was important to the character of the site, 
ecology and neighbouring properties. 
There was no justification for additional footpaths within the site due to the nature of the 
environment.  It permitted space for people to move around with the delineation between 
the main route and the low-key routes serving individual lodges. The application 
contained no requirement for a footpath outside the site.  However, there was merit in 
the suggestion and it would be a matter for the reserved matters stage for the Hub, 
should the request for one be presented.  
 
Agreeing design was subjective, overall Members agreed their preference of the use of 
lodges against caravans. Furthermore, members stressed the need for the lodges to be 
aesthetically pleasing by blending into the surrounding landscape and using earth 
colours and natural build materials where possible.  Concerns further questioned safe 
distances between the lodges in respect of potential fire incidents and the build 
materials of the ledges. 
In response to above queries the Growth Manager advised as follows: 
All sites needed to be licensed and therefore liable to the conditions of the licence in 
respect of safety.  Environmental Health did consider separation distances and the 
majority of lodges on the site were compliant with legislation separation distances, being 
10m at the narrowest distance.  Precise siting of the lodges would be directed by the site 
licence requirement. 
 
The parking provision of one place per lodge raised concerns in respect of the larger 
lodges potentially having two to three bedrooms resulting in occupants possibly arriving 
in more than one vehicle. 
In response to the above query the Growth Manager responded as follows: 
The applicant intended to retain all 250 existing hard standing parking spaces on the site 
providing overflow parking for guests. 
 

Page 8



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

Overall members were supportive of the application, citing its benefits for tourism and for 
the town and the knock on for businesses therein.  There was enthusiasm for the jobs 
the attraction would create with indications of potentially 100 posts when completed.  
The lodges received support against traditional caravans and there was recognition of 
the applicant amending the original application, following the outcomes of the initial 
round of consultation.   
 
In conclusion, the Chairman thanked committee for a good debate and stated that whilst 
members had voiced concerns on highway safety at the intersection, it was a B route 
and an A route and with no objections from LCC Highways, any such refusal on such 
grounds would be very difficult to defend on appeal.  Agreeing comments of some 
members the Chairman acknowledged that it would be very difficult to put a new access 
onto the A1211.   Referencing the site, he tabled his gratitude to the applicants for their 
consciousness in taking full advantage of the landscaping, with the facility not being 
turned into a site of cramped vans with cars strewn throughout.  The Chairman further 
noted how useful it had been to see through the report, how the applicant had overcome 
all the statutory objections from the initial consultation process.  Endorsing the 
comments of the overall economic benefits to the Borough, the Chairman stated he felt 
the proposed development was a vote of confidence in the visitor economy. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathon Noble and seconded by Councillor Yvonne 
Stevens that the application be granted in line with officer recommendation subject to 
the conditions, reasons and informatives therein and subject to the conclusion of a Legal 
Agreement 
 
VOTE:      For:  10.       Against    0.           Abstention 1. 
 
RESOLVED:  TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS, REASONS AND INFORMATIVES AND SUBJECT TO THE 
CONCLUSION OF A LEGAL AGREEMENT. 
 
CONDITIONS RELATING TO FULL PLANNING PERMISSION FOR:  
Part change of use of the Golf Course for the siting of caravans with associated 
works including landscaping, hardstanding and access routes: 
 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four 
years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2 Unless varied by other conditions attached to and forming part of this decision, 

the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 Ref: P19-2767.006 – ‘Location Plan’ 

 Ref: P19-2767.015 – ‘Red Line Boundary Plan Western Area’ 

 Ref: P19-2767.16 – ‘Boundary Treatment- Western Area Enlargement’ 

 Ref: P19-2767.007 Rev C – ‘Illustrative site layout’ 

 Ref: P19-2767.14 – ‘Typical Unit Layout’ 

Page 9



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of supporting 
documents which accompany the application including:  
 Economic Benefits Report 

 Foul Drainage Strategy 

 Heritage Desk Based Assessment 

 Ecology and Protected Species Survey 

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Transport Statement 

 Landscape Visual Appraisal 

 Planning, Economic and Design and Access Statement 

 Vitality and Needs Assessment 

 Tree Report 

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
approved plans in accordance with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
3 The change of use to allow the siting of caravans hereby permitted relates solely 

to the area within the red line denoted on plan reference P19-2767.015 – ‘Red 
Line Boundary Plan Western Area’. No caravans shall be sited outside of this 
area. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, no other similar structures / additions (e.g. camping 
pods), touring caravans, motor homes, tents, or other forms of temporary holiday 
accommodation, shall be sited anywhere on the site. 

 

 Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
approved details in accordance with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
3 The development hereby permitted, in particular the layout of the site including 

siting of the caravans; layout and arrangements of access roads; position and 
scale of SUDS features and position and extent of areas of planting; should be 
undertaken in substantial accordance with the illustrative plans submitted, plan 
reference P19-2767.007 Rev C – ‘Illustrative site layout’. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily based on the details submitted with the 
application, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
5 The development shall be implemented in substantial accordance with the 

phasing plan (dated 3rd July 2020) and supporting letter submitted on the 25th 
June 2020. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been 

applied for, in accordance with Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
6 A maximum of 300 caravans are permitted only within the approved development 

area as denoted on plan reference P19-2767.015 – ‘Red Line Boundary Plan 
Western Area’. No caravans shall be sited outside of this area. 

Page 10



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, no other similar structures / additions (e.g. camping 
pods), touring caravans, motor homes, tents, or other forms of temporary holiday 
accommodation, shall be sited anywhere on the site. 
 

 Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been 
applied for, in accordance with Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
7. The caravans hereby permitted shall be occupied for holiday purposes only and 

shall not be occupied as a person’s sole or main place of residence.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been 
applied for, that it is restricted to holiday use only and the accommodation is not 
used for permanent residential accommodation. This condition is imposed in 
accordance with Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036). 
 

8. The owners/operators of the site shall maintain an up-to-date register of the 
names of all occupiers of the accommodation on the site, length of stay (including 
details of arrival and departure dates) and of their main home addresses, and 
shall make this information available to the Local Planning Authority on request. 

 

 Reason: To ensure the development is in accordance with what has been 
applied for, that it is restricted to holiday use only and the accommodation is not 
used for permanent residential accommodation. This condition is imposed in 
accordance with Policy 1 and 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036). 

 

9. Prior to siting of any caravans within any phase, details of the types of unit 
(including size, design and proposed materials for the caravan units) to be sited 
within that phase, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Only those types of unit approved shall be sited within each 
phase.  

 

 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 

10 With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to the 
commencement of works within each phase a detailed scheme of landscaping for 
that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This shall include details of both hard and soft landscape works 
(including new planting) and earthworks. The scheme as approved shall be 
completed in full not later than the end of the first planting season following the 
occupation of the final holiday unit in each phase.  

 

 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 

Page 11



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

11 With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to the 
commencement of works within each phase a detailed a landscape management 
plan for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall include long term 
design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for 
all landscape areas and areas of new planting within that phase. Each phase of 
the site shall thereafter be managed in accordance with the management plan at 
all times.  

 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
12. With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to the 

commencement of works within each phase, a detailed schedule of landscape 
maintenance for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall cover a period of not less than 
5years from the first occupation of the last unit within each phase or the 
completion of the landscaping/planting within that phase whichever is the later. 
Landscape maintenance shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed 
schedule for that phase only.  

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Polies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

13. Where the development or groundworks within any phase would require 
excavations exceeding a depth of 1m, no such works shall proceed unless there 
is presence of an archaeologist on site who shall observe the excavations and 
record items of interest and finds that may be encountered.    
If during development within any phase, any features of archaeological interest 
are discovered, works shall cease and no further works shall proceed until such 
time as details of a written scheme of investigation and recording have been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter work on that phase shall 
continue in accordance with the approved scheme of investigation and recording. 
 
Reason: In the interest of protecting heritage assets and features of 
archaeological interest, in accordance with Policy 29 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

14. Prior to the installation of any lighting within each phase or within the sales area, 
details of the location and type of lighting to be installed, along with details of 
illumination levels, any shielding proposed, and timing of the illumination, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for agreement in writing. Any lighting 
shall then only be installed in accordance with the agreed details.  

 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate level of lighting is provided which is not 
detrimental to the amenity of the area in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

Page 12



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

15. Prior to the occupation of the first caravan on site, a Framework Travel Plan shall 
be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan 
shall include measures to encourage sustainable travel to and from the site, 
including provision of information such as: pre-arrival information, location of local 
facilities and how to get to them by alternative means, routes for cycling & 
walking, provision of public transport information and timetables. The Travel Plan 
shall set out monitor able objectives for sustainable travel along with mechanisms 
for monitoring and review. The applicant shall implement and monitor the 
approved travel plan in accordance with the approved plan at all times when the 
accommodation hereby permitted is available for occupation. 

 
 Reason: To encourage sustainable development in accordance with Policy 1 of 

the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the overarching 
principles of the NPPF. 

 
16. Prior to the occupation of the first caravan on site, the boundary treatment as 

detailed on plan reference P19-2767.16, ‘Boundary Treatment- Western Area 
Enlargement’, shall be implemented. No more than 20units shall be occupied until 
the boundary treatments have been completed in full. The approved boundary 
treatment shall be permanently retained and maintained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the approved 

scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
17. The siting of caravans hereby permitted by this planning permission shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
December 2019/Version 1/ RM Associates and the following mitigation measures 
detailed within the FRA: 
 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 3m above Ordnance Datum 

(AOD) 

 Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the 

proposed development as stated 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation of each 
unit and subsequently remain in place. 
 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants, and to comply with policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 
 

18. Prior to the occupation of the first caravan on site, a flood warning and evacuation 
plan for the entire site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved plan shall then be implemented from the 
occupation of the first caravan on site, and the site shall be operated in 
accordance with the agreed plan at all times.  

 
 Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the future occupants, and to comply 

with policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

Page 13



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

19. With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, no development 
or works (including ground works and vegetation clearance) shall take place until 
a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and 
been approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Guidance on the structure of the CEMP can be found in BS 42020:2013 
Biodiversity Code of Practice for Planning and Development. The CEMP should 
accord with the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (paragraphs 170, 174 
& 175) and chapter 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan.  
 
Suggested topics for inclusion into the CEMP should include but not be limited to: 
 Scheme description 
 Identification of areas/species of conservation interest 
 Risk assessment of potentially damaging activities and identification of 

biodiversity 
 protection zones/sensitive areas 
 Habitats and species protection - practical measures to be adhered to avoid or 

minimise impacts during construction e.g. a series of method statements for 
badgers, bats, common reptiles, hedgehogs and birds etc. 

 Incorporation of SuDS and Green Infrastructure 
 Full details of how the recommendations in Section 5 of the Inspired Ecology 

report (March 2020) will be incorporated into the scheme, by what date, how 
they will be monitored, by whom, how often and for how long. 

 The roles and responsibilities of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECofW) to 
oversee the implementation of the CEMP and undertake required monitoring 
and maintenance. 

 Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
 Details on the submission of interim progress reports to the LPA as evidence of 

compliance, to report on success failure of mitigation and where necessary the 
need to amend the CEMP. 

 Measures for management, monitoring and recording related to all actions 
undertaken as a result of the CEMP, for a period of not less than 5years from 
the completion of the works identified by the CEMP or the last unit to be 
occupied, whichever is the later.  

 
The development of the site shall then only proceed in accordance with the 
agreed Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP). 
 

 Reason: In the interest of protected species, and to support ecological protection 
and biodiversity enhancement, in accordance with Policy 28 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
20. There will be no removal of vegetation within the breeding bird season (1 March 

and 31 August inclusive), unless a search for active nests has been made by an 
ecologist in advance. Any nests found with eggs or young will be identified and 
protected until the young have fledged.   

 

 Reason: In the interest of protected species in accordance with Policy 28 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 

Page 14



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

21 With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to siting or 
occupation of any caravan within each phase, full details of a scheme of foul 
water drainage for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include connection points, discharge 
rates, and timetable for the provision of any required foul drainage infrastructure - 
which may include on and off-site works. All required works relating to that phase, 
shall then be delivered in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate foul drainage is provided, to ensure that there 
is sufficient infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of the development and prevent 
flooding and pollution as a result of the development, and to comply with policies 
2, 4, and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
22. With the exception of the works to be undertaken within phase 1, prior to siting or 

occupation of any caravan within each phase, full details of a scheme of surface 
water drainage for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
These details shall be based upon be based on sustainable drainage principles 
and an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the 
development, and shall include: 
 details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up 

to 
     and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for 

climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the 
existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without 
exceeding the run-off rate for the 

     undeveloped site; 
 details of connection points, attenuation details and discharge rates (which 

shall be restricted to greenfield run off rate); 
 details of the timetable provision of for the surface water drainage scheme; and 
 details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime 

of 
     the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body 

or Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the 
operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

All required works relating to that phase, shall then be delivered in accordance 
with the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate surface water drainage is provided, to ensure 
that there is sufficient infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of the development 
and prevent flooding and pollution as a result of the development, and to comply 
with policies 2, 4, and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 
CONDITIONS RELATING TO OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR: 
Development of a “Hub” Building(s) of up to 12,000sqm total floorspace 
containing an ancillary reception/activity centre/Spa (Use Class D2)/Retail Unit (up 
to 100sqm)/food and beverage (use classes A1, A4 and A5) and facilities 
management and ancillary works; and provision of a sales building and 
associated works. 

Page 15



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 
23 No development shall commence until details of the access, layout, appearance, 

scale and landscaping of the development (hereafter referred to as the ‘reserved 

matters’) have been submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: This is an outline application only and such details must be approved 
before development commences in order to comply with the objectives of Policies 
2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
24.  Application for approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority not later than the expiration of four years from the date of this 
permission. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
25.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two 

years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

26. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 
shall include the following arboricultural detail: 
1. Tree Survey and Constraints details. 
2. An Impact Assessment. 
3. A Method Statement and/or Tree Protection Plan to BS5837:2012 Trees in 
relation to design demolition and construction - Recommendations methodology. 
 
The details shall identify (not necessarily exclusively) the following: 
 

 Identification of trees to be retained and those to be removed. 
 Location and specification of protective tree measures in addition to 

appropriate ground protection measures within the Root Protection Areas of 
all retained trees within the site. 

 Details of all Root Protection Area infringement during the construction and 
landscaping phases with details on how the impact will be minimised. This 
includes the location and specification of 'no dig' constructions (where 
applicable). 

 Details of facilitation pruning. 
 Location for access, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare 

facilities etc. 
 Specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and 

changes in soil level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees. 
 Details of signage to be erected within the tree protection areas 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Polices 2 and 3 
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
27. No swimming pool or pools greater than 20m in individual length shall be installed 

within or associated with the hub building(s) unless the prior written agreement of 
the Local Planning Authority has been obtained. 

Page 16



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 
 

  In the event that the Hub building(s) or the associated area, is to include the 
provision of a swimming pool over 20m in length then the reserved matters 
submission shall be accompanied by a strategic needs assessment which shall 
include an assessment of the impact of the pool and wider strategic need for 
pools of the size and type proposed, and demonstrate that the proposal would not 
negatively impact upon other strategic facilities. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development complies with the South East 
Lincolnshire Sports Provision and Open Space and strategic need and in 
accordance with Policy 32 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
28. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 

shall include full details of an archaeological evaluation to determine the 
presence, character and date of any archaeological deposits present within the 
area proposed for the Hub building(s), and details of any mitigation measures 
required as part of the development. This evaluation should include details such 
as: a written scheme of investigation; details of geophysical survey and trial 
trenching and any associated results; and any necessary mitigation measures 
including but not limited to an archaeological watching brief.    

 

Reason: In the interest of considering the impact upon and protecting heritage 
assets, in accordance with Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 

 
29. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 

shall include a detailed design brief for the ‘Hub’ building(s) including: 
 

 Design principles applied to the new building and full design details of the 
building(s) including external appearance 

 Details of how the relationships with existing physical features, and 
surrounding developed forms including designated and non-designated 
heritage assets have influenced and shaped the design of the hub building 

 Details of all external materials and finishes to be used on the building and 
surrounding hard landscaping and boundaries 

 The layout siting and scale of the building(s) and uses to be contained therein 
 Details relating to landscaping – including retention or replacement of existing 

trees as appropriate and any additional planting proposed 
 Details of proposed lighting to serve the building and surrounding areas 
 Any phasing of development  

  
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the historic environment, in 
accordance with Polices 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 

 
30. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 

shall include a noise assessment for the ‘Hub’ building(s) and details of the 
proposed hours of use/operation.  

 

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity, in accordance with Policy 2 and 3 
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

Page 17



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 
31. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 

shall include a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP). 
 

Guidance on the structure of the CEMP can be found in BS 42020:2013 
Biodiversity Code of Practice for Planning and Development. The CEMP should 
accord with the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (paragraphs 170, 174 
& 175) and chapter 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan.  
Suggested topics for inclusion into the CEMP should include but not be limited to: 
 Scheme description 
• Identification of areas/species of conservation interest 
   Risk assessment of potentially damaging activities and identification of     

biodiversity 
 protection zones/sensitive areas 

• Habitats and species protection - practical measures to be adhered to avoid or 
minimise impacts during construction e.g. a series of method statements for 
badgers, bats, common reptiles, hedgehogs and birds etc. 

 Incorporation of SuDS and Green Infrastructure 
• Full details of how the recommendations in Section 5 of the Inspired Ecology 

report (March 2020) will be incorporated into the scheme, by what date, how 
they will be monitored, by whom, how often and for how long. 

• The roles and responsibilities of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECofW) to 
oversee the implementation of the CEMP and undertake required monitoring 
and maintenance. 

• Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
• Details on the submission of interim progress reports to the LPA as evidence of 

compliance, to report on success failure of mitigation and where necessary the 
need to amend the CEMP. 

 Measures for management, monitoring and recording related to all actions 
undertaken as a result of the CEMP, for a period of not less than 5years from 
the completion of the works identified by the CEMP or the last unit to be 
occupied, whichever is the later.  

 

 Reason: In the interest of protected species in accordance with Policy 28 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
32. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition23 above 

shall include details of the arrangements for the parking / turning / manoeuvring / 
loading / unloading of vehicles within the site.  These approved arrangements 
shall be implemented before the 'Hub' building(s) are occupied and shall be kept 
permanently available for such use at all times thereafter. 

 
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory parking and turning in 
accordance with Policy 36 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
33. The ‘Hub’ building(s) hereby approved shall be restricted to a maximum of 12,000 

sqm floorspace, and shall only comprise the following uses: 
 

 Reception and associated facilities management / ancillary areas 
 Activity centre/Spa (Use Class D2) 

Page 18



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

 Retail Unit – (Use Class A1) up to a maximum of 100sqm to be ancillary to the 
wider site 

 Food and beverage facilities – (Use Classes A4 and A5) to be ancillary to the 
wider site  
 

 Reason: To ensure that the size and use of the building remains compatible with 
the surrounding area and in accordance with Policy 9 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
34. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) December 
2019/Version 1/ RM Associates and the following mitigation measures detailed 
within the FRA: 

 
 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 3m above Ordnance Datum (AOD) 
 Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the proposed 

development as stated 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to first use of the 
development and subsequently remain in place. 

 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants, and to comply with policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 

 
35. No building works to the ‘Hub’ building(s) shall be undertaken until full details of a 

scheme including phasing, for the provision of mains foul sewage infrastructure 
on and off site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The building(s) shall not be brought into use until the works 
have been carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 
Reason: To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through 
provision of suitable water infrastructure, and to comply with policies 2, 4 and 30 
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 

34. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 
shall include a strategic/business plan for the retained golfing facilities which 
includes improvements to the golfing facilities, including upgrading of the driving 
range and practice facilities, and timing for the delivery of such improvements, as 
well as measures to attract membership, particularly within the local community.  

  
Reason: To ensure that retention and enhancement of the existing leisure 
facilities in accordance with Policy 9 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 

 

35. There will be no removal of vegetation within the breeding bird season (1 March 
and 31 August inclusive), unless a search for active nests has been made by an 
ecologist in advance. Any nests found with eggs or young will be identified and 
protected until the young have fledged.   

 

Reason: In the interest of protected species in accordance with Policy 28 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 

Page 19



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

36. Submissions relating to the ‘reserved matters’ required under condition 23 above 
shall include details of renewable energy provisions, including the location and 
number of EV charging points to be provided, along with a timetable for the 
implementation/installation of such provisions. 

 

 Reason: To ensure the development meets the requirements in respect of 
climate change in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036). 

 
Informatives 
 

1. Notwithstanding the conditions imposed and the requirements of any other 
regulatory regimes, the Local Planning Authority advocate that the site is 
implemented and managed in  with the site rules as set out in the ‘Woodland 
Nature Resort – Overarching Management Principles’ document dated 4th May 
2020.  

 

Informatives requested by Anglian Water: 
 

2. Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject 
to an adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account 
and accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or 
public open space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be 
diverted at the developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
Or, in the case of apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners 
of the apparatus. It should be noted that the diversion works should normally be 
completed before development can commence. 

 
3. Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water 

Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the 
Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087.  
 

4. A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land identified for the 
proposed development. It appears that development proposals will affect existing 
public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian Water 
Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over 
existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian 
Water.  
 

5. No building will be permitted within the statutory easement width of 3 metres from 
the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. Please contact Development 
Services Team on 0345 606 6087. 
 

6. The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been 
approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the 
sewers included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under 
Sections 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our 
Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. 
Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed in accordance 
with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as supplemented by Anglian 
Water’s requirements.  

 

Page 20



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

7. It is highly recommend that you engage with Anglian Water at your earliest 
convenience to develop in consultation with us a feasible drainage strategy. If you 
have not done so already, we recommend that you submit a Pre-planning enquiry 
with our Pre-Development team. This can be completed online at  
http://www.anglianwater.co.uk/developers/pre-development.aspx 

 
 
IT IS RECORDED THAT A COMFORT BREAK WAS TAKEN AT THIS POINT IN THE 
PROCEEDINGS. 
 
COUNCILLOR PETER BEDFORD RETURNED TO COMMITTEE ON RECONVENTION OF 
THE MEETING. 

 
6   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0473 

 
PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0473 
 
Erection of a one and a half storey building comprising ground floor retail unit (use 
class A1) and a first floor 1-bed apartment, together with revised access and parking 
arrangements 
 
Boston, 2, Eastwood Road, Fishtoft PE21 0PH 
 
Mr Erhan Akyuz 
 
The Growth Manager presented the report for the erection of a one and a half storey 
building.  He advised members that the original application would have doubled the 
existing site and had included a significant extension to the existing shop; fewer parking 
spaces, a building to the rear and a flat to the upper level.  The amended plan provided 
greater reduction in build along with increased parking. 
Visual slides confirmed the layout of the proposed development alongside the existing 
buildings.  The access and exit plan showed access only from Lindis Road with exit 
direct onto Eastwood Road, along with parking spaces providing entry and exit of the 
site in forward gear and a dedicated parking slot for delivery vehicles. The slides further 
identified the boundary of the site noting the loss of one dropped pavement on the 
corner alongside increased visibility at the corner following removal of a high hedge 
previously shielding drivers’ vision when on the site. 
Noting the additional commercial activity in close proximity to the site, the Growth 
Manager further advised that any concerns in respect of impact on the character of the 
site would be considered suitable, subject to the materials proposed and details in 
respect of boundary treatments and waste storage. Flood risk and air quality concerns 
identified would be addressed by recommended conditions. 
 
Member debate followed the presentation which included the following matters which 
have been collated to incorporate repetition of comment and also to address 
questioning: 
 
Strong concerns noted a number of highway issues including the number of parking 
spaces provided, against the number recommended, and a lack of any designated cycle 
store.   
 

Page 21



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

Whilst some members recognised that due to the location of site in a highly residential 
area, many customers would probably visit on foot, others advised that with the 
commercial offer in the area many users did travel via car due to a lack of local shops 
elsewhere.   
 
Issues raised included concern in respect of entering via Lindis Road due to the slight 
bend of the road with cars coming from Freiston Road onto Eastwood Road, the level of 
existing traffic at the busy crossroads and the potential increase for both traffic and 
pedestrian accidents resulting from the additional business.  
 
Members further agreed the call-in of the application by Fishtoft Parish Council with their 
concerns in respect of highway safety being echoed by the planning committee.  
Referencing access and exiting of the site a member asked how practical it would be 
with cars swinging in from Lindis Road.  Referencing the delivery vehicle space for a 7.5 
tonne vehicle a member stated that many delivery vehicles were larger and would as 
such block the entrance.  Such vehicles would potentially enter in forward gear and 
need to exit in reverse gear raising further safety concerns.   
A member voiced concerns at a lack of signage both directing drivers through the one-
way system onto the site along with a lack of clear kerbside signage for pedestrians.  
Concerns further noted that the increased number of vehicle movements could 
compromise the safety of the children from the many schools within the locality. 
On suggesting that a device be installed at the exit to prevent vehicles entering over it, a 
number of members agreed that it was an option moving forward. However concerns 
were raised that should a driver ignore the sign and attempt to drive over the 
mechanism to enter from Eastwood Road, the result would be either a blockage to the 
site or an even greater increase in traffic congestion in the immediate area. Other 
comments included recognition that the application was compliant with the Local Plan in 
respect of new shops being in proximity to existing commercial businesses.  The design 
was appropriate with dormer windows in the pitched roof along with velux windows 
elsewhere; the improved access and egress with a one-way system was significantly 
better than the existing system and the amended scheme much improved on the original 
scheme.  A member referenced a similar planning application, refused on highways 
reasons contrary to highways having agreed the application, which had been lost at 
appeal.  
 
In response to above queries the Growth Manager responded as follows: 
Following a members question as to how a driver actually got into the parking spaces 
from the four-way junction, the Growth Manager reminded members historically there 
had been a business on the site for many years.  During that time, access and exiting of 
the site had been from both Eastwood Road and Lindis Road, along with the dropped 
kerb on the corner.  Cars had parked in front of the shop and alongside the existing 
hedgerow in both directions. 
The proposed scheme had a dedicated entrance from Lindis Road with a one-way 
through the site, to a dedicated exit onto Eastwood Road.  The parking spaces were 
over-sized to provide delineated spaces to allow drivers to access and exit in forward 
gear.  Condition 4 within the report addressed issues in respect of clear signage to direct 
drivers in entering the site, parking and then exiting.  For further reference, the Growth 
Manager pointed out on a visual plan the location of an established pedestrian crossing 
between existing businesses and the application site and the tactile pram route at the 
crossroads. 

Page 22



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

Condition 4 required provision of all details of signage prior to discharge of the condition 
and if the officers’ were not satisfied then they would not approve.  A balanced provision 
of signage was required, which needed to be clearly directionally to motorists and 
pedestrians but not a distraction in size or content for drivers. 
Stating he was mindful of the comments and concerns raised in respect of highway 
safety the Growth Manager stressed that should a Member move refusal then they 
needed to very clearly, articulate their reasons to allow advice if the reasons could be 
defended at appeal.  Highways had no objections to the application so clear evidence by 
members for a refusal would be required. 
  
At this point in the proceedings’ Councillor Brian Rush asked that it be recorded that he 
felt there could be danger to life in respect of the particular development.   Councillor 
Rush further moved refusal but cited no reasons. 
For confirmation, during debate Councillor Jonathon Noble had moved the motion as per 
officer recommendation.  Councillor Alison Austin had subsequently seconded the 
motion. 
 
The Growth Manager referenced the suggestion of a device to prevent vehicles 
accessing the site through the exit, stating that whilst he felt it would be reasonable and 
appropriate and achieve the aim of condition 4, the applicant could appeal it or come 
back with an alternative mechanism or procedure.  Officers could consult with highways 
to seek their agreement to an amendment as part of the discharge the condition.  
However, should a vehicle ignore the signs and attempt to drive over the mechanism 
then congestion or worse could occur. 
 
The Chairman interceded and asked if a delegation to the Growth Manager would be 
appropriate to avoid any need for the application to have to come back to committee on 
a technical point.   The Growth Manager confirmed he would liaise with highways in 
respect of a device / mechanism or structure to control the one-way system, preventing 
access from Eastwood Road.  
 
Councillor Jonathon Noble and Councillor Alison Austin respectively agreed the 
amendment to the original motion they had moved and seconded respectively. 
 
At this point in the proceedings’ Councillor Brian Rush asked for a point or order 
questioning why Councillor David Brown was on the planning committee and that the 
response be recorded within the minutes. 
The clerk confirmed that a previous committee member Councillor Michael Cooper had 
changed his political stance rendering a vacant seat on the committee.  The seat was 
allocated Conservative under political proportionality rules and Councillor David Brown 
had been returned to the committee under delegated powers ahead of the meeting.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathon Noble and seconded by Councillor Alison Austin, 
that the application be granted in line with officer recommendation, subject to the 
conditions, reasons and informatives therein and subject to the amendment to Condition 
4 to delegate authority to the Growth Manager to liaise with highways in respect of a 
device / mechanism or structure to control the one-way system. 
 
Vote:    For.   10              Against:   2                      Abstain:  
 

Page 23



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

RESOLVED:  That the application be granted in line with officer recommendation, 
subject to the following conditions which include the amendment to condition 4, 
reasons and informatives: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four 

years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 

the revised application received 09-Apr-2020 and in accordance with the 
associated plans referenced: 
 
 Drawing Number B/3355 3-001 – Proposed – Elevations and Plans (March 
       2020); 
 Drawing Number: B/3355 3-002 – Proposed – Elevations in 
       context/Section AA (March 2020) 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details, in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with Policies 
2, 3, 4, 27, 30 and 36 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of all 
boundary treatments, including their height, design, colour and position, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme as may be approved shall be constructed before the building hereby 
permitted is occupied or brought into use, and shall be retained thereafter. 

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and highway safety in 
accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 

 
4. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a plan showing 

signage and/or markings to delineate the proposed one-way in-and-out 
arrangements for the site, coupled with details of a device/mechanism/structure to 
control the aforementioned arrangements and prevent access from Eastwood 
Road, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The signage and/or markings, and the device/mechanism/structure, as 
may be approved, shall be implemented before the building hereby permitted is 
occupied or brought into use, and shall be retained thereafter.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in particular to ensure that the one-
way in-and-out arrangements are provided and to prevent vehicles accessing the 
site from Eastwood Road in accordance with Policy 2 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.  

5. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a plan showing 9no. 
parking spaces (labelled to reflect their allocation to the flats and shops) along with 
sufficient space to allow vehicles to be parked and turned to enable vehicles to 
enter and exit in forward gear, has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The parking spaces and turning area shall be provided in 
accordance with the agreed plan prior to the occupation or first use of any of the 

Page 24



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

units, and shall thereafter be retained and be made available for use by the 
occupants, staff and customers of the development at all times when those units 
are available for occupation. 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring that sufficient parking is provided to meet the 
needs of the development, to ensure that those parking spaces are retained and 
are available and that there is sufficient space to enable vehicles to turn so that 
they may enter and leave the site in forward gear, and to comply with Policy 36 of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 

 
6. No development shall take place until details of the materials proposed to be used 

in the construction of the external surfaces of the building have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure that the new building is in keeping with the character of the 
area in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
2011-2036. 

 
7. The development permitted shall not be occupied until details of secure refuse 

storage facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details before the building hereby permitted is occupied or brought into 
use, and shall be retained thereafter. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the character of the 
area in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
2011-2036. 

 
8. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, prior to first use of the 

apartment hereby permitted, the dormer window shown on the east facing 
elevation of the building hereby approved shall be obscurely glazed to a minimum 
of level 3 on the Pilkington Scale (where 1 is the lowest and 5 the greatest level of 
obscurity) or equivalent scale, and shall be non-opening unless the parts of the 
window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor level of the 
room in which the window is installed. The duly installed window shall be retained 
as such thereafter. 

 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit the potential 
for overlooking between the development and adjacent properties in order to 
preserve the privacy of adjoining occupiers in accordance with the requirements of 
Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, or 
any equivalent Order following the revocation and re-enactment thereof (with or 
without modification), no windows other than those expressly authorised by this 
permission shall be inserted in any of the sides of the building hereby approved. 

 
Reason: To limit the potential for overlooking towards neighbouring dwellings in 
order to safeguard the privacy of adjoining occupiers in accordance with the 
requirements of Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036). 

 

Page 25



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

10. The residential unit hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of an 
opaque screen of not less than 1.8m in height from the finished floor level of the 
landing at the top of the external staircase, shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The screen shall run the full width of the 
southern  edge of the landing. The residential unit  shall not be occupied until the 
screen has been constructed in full accordance with the agreed details. The 
screen shall thereafter be retained at all times when the residential unit  is 
available for use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the mitigation of any effects on the amenities of the 
first-floor flat at 2 Eastwood Road, by virtue of overlooking and noise/disturbance, 
and to comply with Poicies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
2011-2036. 

 
11. The shop premises shall be occupied only by uses within class A1 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 and for no other purpose, 
including any permitted change of use within the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
or re-enacting either or both of the Orders with or without modification). 
Reason: To protect neighbours’ amenities and the amenity of the area, and to 
accord with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036. 
 

12. The shop premises shall not be open to the public outside the hours of 07.00 to 
22.00 on any day, and no deliveries to (or despatches from) the premises shall 
take place outside of the aforementioned hours. 
Reason: In the interests of regulating noise and disturbance, to protect the 
amenity of the area, and to accord with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 

 
13. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) prepared by Dowlman 
Architecture, dated August 2019 and the following mitigation measures detailed 
within the FRA: the FFL to be set at 225mm above ground level; residential 
accommodation to first floor level only; and flood resilience and resistance 
measures to be incorporated as stated in the FRA. The mitigation measures shall 
be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently remain in place. 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants, and to accord with the requirements of Policy 4 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
14. The water consumption of the dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 

requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional 
requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036). The person carrying out the work must 
inform the Building Control Body that this duty applies. A notice confirming the 
requirement for the water consumption has been met shall be submitted to the 
Building Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no later than five days after 
the completion of the dwelling. 
 

Page 26



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the 
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
Informatives 
 

1. The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular 
access. These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in 
accordance with Section 184 of the Highways Act. The works should be 
constructed in accordance with the Authority’s specification that is current at the 
time of construction. Relocation of existing apparatus, underground services or 
street furniture will be the responsibility of the applicant, prior to application. For 
approval and specification details, please contact  
vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

 
2. Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team 

on 01522 782072 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any 
other works which will be required within the public highway in association with 
the development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire 
County Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works. 

 
7   ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS 

 
   

It is recorded that written public representation was received from members of 
the public in lieu of attendance at the planning committee meeting and taken 
into consideration by all members of the committee in respect of Planning 
Application B 19 0520 a summary of which is below: 
 
Additional letters of objection: 

Robert Doughty Consultancy had tabled 3 additional letters of objections on 
behalf of objectors. The letters are very similar in main content, but also raised 
issues specific to each objector. The letters raised issues in relation to: 
 

 Traffic and Highway matters 

 Flood Risk 

 Permanent Residential use 

 Sustainability 

 Residential Amenity 

 Impact on neighbouring uses – boundary treatments & impact on 
farming operations 

 Land drainage 
 

Officer comments in relation to the additional objections: 

Traffic/Highway matters -  

The LCC Highway Officer who commented on the application was asked to 
respond to the highway/traffic comments contained in the further objection(s) 
received. In summary, they have advised: 
 

Page 27

mailto:vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 The TA uses the most relevant information available in TRICS for 
estimating trip rates to a caravan park. The TRICS data is the best 
available data.  

 Whilst Mr Doughty's letter says that the chosen sites are not 
comparable, he does not say what he considers the appropriate trip 
rates should be nor does he provide any evidence to support his 
assertions regarding the traffic movements.  

 The trip rate report had been re-run in TRICS using data from the last 
20 years and the results show lower trip rates than those used in the 
TA. 

 The trip rate associated with permanent occupancy would be likely to be 
much higher than holiday accommodation.  However, this use was not 
being applied for under this application and planning enforcement will 
presumably be able to ensure the site is only occupied as holiday 
accommodation. 
 

It was considered that the response supported the conclusions of the report, 

and Officers had no further comments to make. 

Flood Risk –  

It was accepted that the language in the report was incorrect. The sentence to 

be corrected as follows: 

“FRA includes reference to the need for a Sequential and Exceptions Test, 

these are covered by other documents provided with the application.” 

It was accepted that only a limited exercise has been undertaken in relation to 
both the Sequential and Exceptions Tests within the documents submitted with 
the application.  
 
Officers have considered the proposals in light of the requirements of policy 4, 
including the principles pertaining to Sequential and Exceptions tests. The 
proposals are to support an existing leisure site, and this matter was covered 
under paragraphs 7.8 and 7.65 of the published report. Officers raised no 
objections to the approach taken within the application submission. Officers 
remained of the view that the proposals were acceptable in that regard and the 
conclusions of the section on Flood Risk remained unchanged. 
 

Permanent Residential Development 

This was addressed in detail within the report. The proposals were for holiday 
accommodation as described and would be conditioned as such. Any breaches 
of the conditions identified would be investigated by Planning Enforcement 
should they occur. 
It must also be remembered that there were currently facilities on site, 
including a bar/restaurant, and driving range, all of which could be accessed by 
people using the caravans, hence the ‘hub’ would supplement these facilities.  
It should also be remembered that there was currently a hotel on site, and also 
there were other examples of holiday accommodation within the immediate 
locality, therefore the broad principle of holiday accommodation in this area 
had been previously accepted.  

Page 28



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

 
Sustainability and economic benefit 

It was considered that it had been sufficiently dealt with in the main report. The 
Councils’ Economic Development Manager has reviewed the application and 
supported the proposals. It was considered that the report was informed by a 
sound methodology and no independent testing was required. In the event the 
figures quoted were not achieved in full, there would still be a significant 
positive economic effect.   It was considered that both points were matters of 
planning judgement for the decision-maker. 
 

Residential Amenity 
It was considered that this was sufficiently dealt with in the main report, and no 
further comments were required. 
 
Impact on neighbouring uses – boundary treatments & impact on farming 
operations 
Officers were of the view that the details presented were acceptable, the 
reference to ‘rabbit proof fencing’ and ‘stock fencing’ were common terms, and 
it would be possible to erect a boundary up to 2m in height without the need for 
planning permission, therefore further details were not necessary.  Further, this 
must be considered in the context of the existing boundaries, which were 
established and comprised of significant vegetation that already presented a 
clear visual and physical barrier. The proposals were to supplement the 
existing arrangements. 
  
Officers consider it is unlikely that users of the site would be encouraged to 
transgress on to neighbouring land.  In any event, any level of transgression 
would be unlikely to be so significant that it could not be managed by the site 
operator and neighbouring landowner in order to ensure that it ddi not become 
problem to the adjacent operations. 
 

Land Drainage 

It was considered that this matter has been sufficiently dealt with, the approach 
to drainage was considered appropriate to the statutory consultees, and would 
also be dealt with by way of conditions proposed.  It was considered that there 
was existing drainage arrangements serving the golf course, and there was 
ample space within the site to ensure that drainage and surface water in 
particular were dealt with in a sustainable way. Equally, the use of SUDs 
features for other activities and benefits is a recognised approach 
Additional letter of comment: 

An email has been received from a Mr M Nundy that identified he was a 
member of the management committee at Hubberts Bridge Community Centre. 
It provided comments in relation to the main foul drainage arrangements 
across the land belonging to the community centre. They advised that the 
arrangements had not been agreed, and they had a number of concerns and 
questions which would needed to be addressed, before they could consider 
agreeing to their intention. They understood the intentions of the applicants 
and that a request may be made, but they were not aware of any reason 
whereby they would not require our permission to proceed as they intend. 

Page 29



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 
 

 

Officer response 

The revised drainage proposals showed foul drainage being connected to the 
mains sewer system, this had been discussed with Anglian Water.  
In this case, the Council had been informed by Anglian Water that subject to a 
feasible drainage strategy being developed and agreed by them, along with 
details of connection points, locations, and agreements being in place for any 
necessary infrastructure, they had no objections. 
The development would need the agreement of Anglian Water to connect to 
the public network and this would be managed under the Water Industry Act 
1991. Any private agreements regarding the ability to connect to the drainage 
system would be outside of the planning decision, and would fall to the 
statutory undertaker (Anglian Water) and could involve civil agreements 
between parties.  
Officers had no further comments to add, and the conclusions and 
recommended conditions remained unchanged. 
 

Additional correspondence on behalf of the Applicant: 

The applicant’s agent tabled two letters on the applicant’s behalf.  The first 

addressed the content of the Report to the Planning Committee, and the 

second sought to respond to the comments provided by objections received 

post publication of the report. 

Officer response 

The letter in response to the content of the Report sought to reinforce the 
findings of that report, and in particular the lack of objection from technical 
consultees. Officers noted that: 
 

 The letter referenced the economic effects of Covid-19, and how the 
proposals could support economic recovery and job creation. 

 The letter reinforced the policy compliant nature of the scheme, and that 
the proposals accorded with the aims of the NPPF, and that proposals 
which accorded with an up-to-date development plan should be 
approved without delay. 
 

Officers have no further comment to make on this letter. 
 
The second letter sought to respond directly to the additional letters of 
objection received post publication of the report. The letter highlighted the 
following points: 
 

 Further detail was given in respect of the Sequential and Exceptions 
Tests approach for this development, with due regard to the nature of 
the proposals and the characteristics of flooding in Boston. It concluded 
that a sequentially preferable location for the development was unlikely. 

 The Agent disagreed with the assertions made in respect of the 
economic case, indicating that owner-occupied caravans could have 
higher levels of occupancy, and therefore it did not follow that average 
spend from the units would be lower. They also indicated domestic 

Page 30



Planning Committee 
28 July 2020 

 

tourism growth was likely to occur as a result of Covid-19 and the 
scheme would enable Boston to capture some of this growth. 

 The owners remained committed to delivering the site as a holiday 
destination, with proposals for the hub likely to come forward for 
Reserved Matters within a period of 3months from any grant of approval 
for the outline. 

 The site would be a managed environment and holidaymakers would be 
encouraged to follow the site rules, and thus any matters relating to 
trespass could be appropriately managed, as could any issues of noise 
or disturbance. 
 

Officers have no further comment to make on this letter. 
 

 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting thanking all attendees for their time and noting the 
success of the Zoom system used to facilitate the first virtual planning committee 

meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 1.40 pm 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0384

Proposed two storey side extension

51 South Parade  Boston  PE21 7PN

Applicant:
Mr and Mrs Hunt

Page 33

Agenda Item 1



 

P
age 34



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Planning Committee – 15th December 2020 
 

 

Reference No:  B/20/0384  
 
Expiry Date:  10-Dec-2020 
Extension of Time: None 
 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
Proposal:  Proposed two storey side extension  
Site:   51 South Parade, Boston, PE21 7PN 
 
Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Hunt 
Agent:   Peter Everton, E2 Design 
 
Ward:   West Parish:  Boston Town Area Committee 

 
Case Officer:  Simon Eldred 
 
Link to Application:       B/20/0384 

Third Party Reps: 1 received 
 
 

 

Recommendation: GRANT Planning Permission 

 

Page 35

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


 

 

1.0 Reason for Report 
 
1.1 This item has been called in for consideration by the Planning Committee by Councillor 

Stephen Woodliffe, who states “I consider that the prime material planning consideration here 
is the loss of natural light to the neighbouring property’s windows, since the other issues 
presented in the original plan which caused the original application to be refused seem to have 
been mitigated within the revised planning application. However, the loss of light is a material 
planning consideration which the Planning Committee must consider, and it must decide 
whether or not the potential loss of light is significant enough to reject the application.”  

 
2.0 Application Site and Proposal 
 
2.1 The application site is located on the western side of South Parade, Boston in a residential 

neighbourhood with existing dwellings to all sides. It contains: 
 

 a detached two-storey dwelling, with rear extensions;  
 a double garage, attached to the dwelling by a 1.6m-high wall; and 
 domestic gardens to the front and rear. 

 
2.2 It is proposed to: 

 

 erect a single-storey extension on the rear (western) elevation. This extension will provide 
a sunroom, will measure approximately 5.3m x 2.3m in plan, and will stand approximately 
3.4m high at the top of its mono-pitch roof (2.4m at eaves level). It will have two windows 
and a pair of glazed french-doors in its western elevation. No details are provided of 
proposed materials; 

 demolish the existing double garage, and erect a two-storey extension on the side 
(southern) elevation. This extension will provide (on the ground floor) a garage, a boot 
room and a toilet; and (on the first floor) a bedroom with ensuite bathroom and dressing 
room. It will measure approximately 8.9m x 3.9m in plan and will stand approximately 6.8m 
in height (4.5m at eaves level). The extension would be between 0.8m and 1.1m from the 
common boundary. No details are provided of proposed materials. It will have a garage 
door and first floor window in its front (eastern) elevation, and (in its rear (western) 
elevation) a glazed door and two windows at ground-floor level, and two windows at first-
floor level.  

 
2.3 It should be noted that the proposal seeks to respond to the previous refusal of planning   
           permission (see planning history below) by: 
 

 reducing the ridge height of the side extension from approximately 7.9m to approximately 
6.8m; 

 revising the layout of the first-floor rooms within the side extension to locate the bedroom 
at the front and an en-suite and dressing room at the rear (in place of a bedroom at the 
rear and an en-suite at the front); and 

 at first-floor level on the rear elevation of the side extension, replacing large areas of 
glazing (including glazed french-doors opening onto a juliet-balcony) with two significantly 
smaller windows.    

 

Page 36



 

 

3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1 In 2008, full planning permission (B/07/0675) was granted for a single storey rear extension. 
 
3.2 In 2020, full planning permission (B/20/0198) was refused for the erection of a two-storey 

side extension.  The application was refused for the following reason: 
 

“…The proposal, by virtue of its size, scale, resultant massing and proximity to the dwelling 
immediately to the south (53 South Parade), and in combination with the inclusion of first-
floor windows/doors/balcony in its rear elevation, will result in an inappropriate and un-
neighbourly form of extension that will create an oppressive form of development which will 
have unacceptable impacts upon 53 South Parade and its amenities as a result of 
overshadowing, loss of light, loss of outlook, overlooking and privacy loss. As a consequence, 
the proposal is contrary to the provisions of Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan 2011-2036…” 

 
3.3 In summary the previous proposals had a number of individual failings, which cumulatively 

led Officers to conclude that they were unacceptable. 

 
4.0 Relevant Policy 
 
4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that determination 

must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
 South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.  

 

The following policies are considered to be the most relevant to this proposal: 
 

 Policy 1: Spatial Strategy; 
 Policy 2: Development Management; 
 Policy 3: Design of New Development; 
 Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk; 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

 Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places; 
 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal    
     change 

 
5.0 Representations 
 

5.1 As a result of publicity, an objection was received from the occupants of a neighbouring 
dwelling (53 South Parade), observing that “just about every point raised in objection to the 
original plan … is still in place. The points of overshadowing, dominance, visual intrusion and 
loss of natural light must all still be valid as the overall positioning and sizing of the proposed 
plans remain unchanged. The only alteration is the position of the bathroom to the rear but 
with two proposed windows the privacy issue we feel is questionable.” 

Page 37



 

 

 

5.2 The applicant responded to the objection to argue that in summary: 
 

 the proposed extension is not unusually close to the neighbouring dwelling, is   
     reduced in height from the earlier proposals, and will not overshadow no. 53; 
 dominance is not in itself grounds for refusal and has no legal grounds; 
 rooms at the rear of the extension have been moved and rear windows will be  
 obscure-glazed to ensure that the privacy of no. 53 is not affected; 
 loss of light impacts will be minimal as there is already a hedge growing near the  
 side windows, and the windows affected do not serve habitable rooms; 
 the extension will have no impacts upon no. 53’s outlook; and 
 many similar extensions have been permitted nearby. 

 
5.3 The objector later submitted a fuller objection, which can be summarised as: 
 

 The biggest issue is the right to light. The primary natural light into the kitchen 
      and the only natural light into the bathroom are both from the windows on the  
      side elevation. Any two storey extension in that vicinity close to the boundary is 
      going to reduce light values.  
 Both windows in the side of the existing bungalow are historic and since original  
     build. 
 Previous proposals failed on other matters including: 
 Privacy – which has been improved upon 
 Overbearing – The physical mass of the building, certainly on the elevation adjacent to 

the bungalow remains virtually unchanged. It will still retain the same 
overbearing/overshadowing design as before.  

 Position/proximity – as above, nothing of any relevance has changed.  
 Outlook – The view from the side window in the bungalow (serving a kitchen)  

would be obstructed when currently it is not. Although it is accepted this is in part across 
the neighbour’s property, there is also plenty of unobstructed daylight that gives both a 
reasonable outlook and provides daylight into the room. The proposals would result in an 
un-neighbourly relationship.  

 
5.4 In turn, the applicants responded to the later objection which is summarised as follows: 
 

 We have worked closely with our architect to ensure that the subsequent design met and 
complied with the observations from the previous planning application. Compromise has 
occurred. 

 Right to light - The bathroom window has highly obscured privacy glass installed so the 
access to light is naturally diminished. There is a 6ft privet hedge less than 1m from the 
window, which distorts over ¾ of the window’s view so access to light is further depleted. 
The stated ‘primary’ kitchen window services a large open plan space, which is also 
serviced by other windows and large windows/doors at the back of the property. Access 
to light has been restricted for over 20years. Neither of these windows should be 
considered a ‘principle’ window on the property. Both windows are located on the side of 
property and service non-habitable rooms, which means they attract ‘secondary’ status to 
the windows at the front and rear the property.  
 

Page 38



 

 

There are numerous examples of adjacent properties in the local area, which echo the 
placement, and proximity of the proposed extension. 

 Privacy – the observation is noted; 
 Overbearing – The design has changed; there has been a significant drop in the height of 

the proposed extension. There are numerous examples of adjacent properties in the                
local area that echo the design and proximity of the proposed extension. 

 Position/Proximity – Again, there are numerous examples of adjacent properties in the 
local area. 

 Outlook – Noted but dealt with under right to light. 
 Have sought at every opportunity to work with the Planning Office to ensure that we    
 meet current planning guidelines and as previously mentioned. 

 
6.0 Consultations 
 
6.1 Cadent Gas indicates that it has no objections. 
 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 
 
7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that determination 

must be made in accordance with the Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
The key considerations in regards to this application are: 

 
 Impacts on the character and appearance of the area; 
 Impacts upon neighbours’ amenity; and 
 Flood risk. 

 
Character of the area 

 
7.2 Policy 2 of the Local Plan indicates that developments will be permitted which will not have 

harmful impacts upon the character and appearance of the area. 
 
7.3 The proposed rear extension will not be visible from public vantage points, and will therefore 

have no impact upon the streetscape. In contrast, the proposed side extension is significant 
in scale, and will be visible from South Parade. Looking first at the relationship of the proposed 
side extension to the original dwelling, the design is attractive, and it will not appear out-of-
character or scale with the existing dwelling. Whilst proposed materials are not identified, a 
condition could be applied to require the submission of details to ensure that the materials 
to be used will be appropriate to the original building. 

 
7.4 In respect of the wider impact upon the streetscape, the proposed side extension will 

significantly reduce the size of the undeveloped gap between no’s 51 and 53 – reducing the 
gap between the two buildings from approximately 6.7m to approximately 2m.  Although this 
will be a significant change, the spacing of dwellings along South Parade is far from uniform, 
and existing examples can be found of gaps that are similar to that which will be created, e.g. 
between no’s 55 and 57, or between no’s 59 and 61, or between no’s 50 and 52. In this 
context, it is considered that the proposals’ impacts upon the character of the wider area will 
be acceptable and that they are compliant with Policy 2 in respect of this issue. 

Page 39



 

 

  
 
Neighbours’ amenity 

 
7.5 Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the Local Plan require the amenities of neighbouring land users to be 

protected. 
 
7.6 The proposed rear extension will have no impacts upon the dwellings to the north, east and 

south, given that it will be separated from these properties by other structures. Although it 
has windows and glazed French-doors in its western elevation, these windows/doors will be 
nearly 70m from the dwellings to the west (26 and 28 Chester Way). At this distance, it is 
considered that there will no adverse effects upon these dwellings in terms of overlooking or 
privacy. Similarly, given the small scale of the rear extension and the distances involved, there 
will be no adverse impacts in terms of over-shadowing, loss of light, or harm to outlook. 

 
7.7 The proposed side extension will have no impact upon the dwelling to the north, given that it 

will be separated from this property by other structures. The side extension will approach 
approximately 75cm closer than the original dwelling to the homes on the opposite side of 
South Parade (Lakeview and no. 36), but will still be more than 25m distant. Thus, although it 
stands two-storey in height and has a first-floor window looking towards them, it is 
considered that (at this distance) it will have no adverse effects upon these dwellings in terms 
of over-shadowing, loss of light, harm to outlook, overlooking, or loss of privacy. Equally, it is 
considered that the side extension (despite its height and windows looking west) will have no 
adverse impacts upon the dwellings to the west, given the distances involved. 

 
7.8 The occupants of the dwelling to the south (53 South Parade) have objected, arguing that the 

proximity and scale of the side extension is unchanged from the earlier application and that 
the proposals  will have harmful effects on their home in terms of overshadowing/loss of light, 
dominance/impacts on outlook, and overbearing. In their first objection, they also suggest 
that the side extension may have harmful impacts in terms of loss of privacy. Taking each 
potential impact in turn. 

 
7.9 Overshadowing/loss of light - The side extension is proposed to be constructed opposite the 

two windows in no. 53’s northern elevation – one window is obscure-glazed and serves a 
bathroom, and the other serves the kitchen – which is noted as being part of an open-plan 
room at the rear of the dwelling, which also provides living and dining space. The proposals 
involve the erection of a 4.5m high wall within between 1.1m-0.8m of the common boundary 
with no.53. When considering the impact on these windows, it must be recognised that whilst 
they may be original, these windows are north facing and, as such, will receive little sunlight.  
Furthermore, the availability of daylight to these windows is already constrained by a privet 
hedge, which is estimated to have a height of approximately 1.7m, and to be located a little 
over 1m from them. Daylight to the windows could be further constrained by the construction 
of a 2m-high barrier at the boundary, which could be implemented at any time without the 
need for planning permission. 

 
 
 

Page 40



 

 

 
7.10 The applicants’ argue that the height of the extension has been reduced from that proposed 

in the earlier application (B/20/0198), and it is true that its maximum height has been reduced 
from approximately 7.9m to 6.8m. Whilst the (more important) height at eaves level is no 
different (4.5m), it is nonetheless accepted that the reduction in the extension’s overall height 
and the change in roof arrangement will have some modest benefit in improving the 
availability of light to the windows.  

 
7.11 Nevertheless, despite the reduction in the extension’s overall height, it is still considered that 

(thanks to its height, mass and proximity) it will have impacts upon these windows in terms 
of overshadowing and loss of light. These are unavoidable if the extension is to take place in 
this area in the manner proposed. It is considered that these impacts will somewhat reduce 
the amenity enjoyed by the occupiers of 53 South Parade, and this weighs against the 
proposals. However, given that neither window serves a ‘habitable’ room, and given that the 
kitchen area receives light from significant areas of glazing in the dwelling’s western elevation 
(via the open-plan lounge), it is considered that the scale of the harm that will be caused will 
be relatively minor. It is acknowledged however that the view from the kitchen window would 
change and would be obscured by the extension, the effect of which is discussed further 
below. 

 
7.12 Dominance/loss of views – The relationship between the proposed extension and number 53 

is discussed in detail in the preceding section.  
 
7.13 Taking account of the aforementioned, as well as the views expressed both by the objector 

and the applicant, it is considered that the proposed extension will cause a greater impact 
upon the outlook from the kitchen window than the existing hedge or a potential 2m barrier 
- given that it will stand more than twice as high (though further away).  

 
7.14 Although there is no standard definition of a habitable room and, in any event, kitchens may 

be considered as non-habitable rooms, it is considered that the effect on this window would 
still be significant as a result of the overall dominance and the fact that the views from this 
window would be on to a substantial side elevation. This would be a drastic change to the 
outlook from this area of the property. 

 
7.15 Balanced against this is there is no right to a view (in planning terms); neither window serves 

a habitable room; and only one window provides a view. Therefore whilst it is considered that 
the extension (thanks to its height, mass and proximity) will have an impact upon the kitchen 
window in terms of the outlook that is available, the overall effect is considered to be 
mitigated to a degree and would be minor. Whilst the resultant relationship would undermine 
the amenities enjoyed by the occupiers of 53 South Parade, and this weighs against the 
proposals, the overall effect is considered to be minor in nature.  

 
7.16 Privacy – The first-floor window in the front (eastern) elevation of the proposed side 

extension will offer peripheral views across no. 53’s front garden, but it is considered that 
these will have no material impact upon amenity in terms of loss of privacy or overlooking. 
However, in its rear (western) elevation, the proposed side extension will have a glazed door 
and two windows at ground-floor level, and two windows at first-floor level.  

Page 41



 

 

 
It is considered that the ground-floor windows and door will not overlook no. 53’s rear garden, 
given that existing boundary treatments will prevent views. In contrast, views towards no. 
53’s rear garden would potentially be available from the first-floor windows, over the top of 
the privet hedge, which separates the two properties. However, the applicants indicate that 
they intend for these windows to be obscure-glazed (although this is not indicated in either 
the application form or drawings). It is considered that, subject to a condition to require these 
windows to be obscure-glazed and non-opening, the proposals will have no adverse effects 
upon no. 53 in terms of loss of privacy or overlooking. 

 
7.17 Overbearing – 53 South Parade is a bungalow which is estimated to stand approximately 

2.4m-high at its eaves. The proposed extension will involve the erection of a 4.4m high wall 
within close proximity of its northern elevation, and the objectors argue that such a large 
structure in such proximity will have an oppressive impact upon the dwelling. It is considered, 
however, that such impacts are effectively an amalgam of the other issues considered above, 
and not a separate issue in their own right. Therefore, the harm in this respect has already 
been considered above. 

 
7.18 Conclusions on neighbours’ amenity – It is considered that, compared to the previous 

application (B/20/0198), the proposals are meaningfully improved. The previous concerns 
about impacts upon privacy and overlooking are resolved by amendments to the layout of the 
first-floor rooms (together with a proposed condition to ensure that rear first-floor windows 
will be obscure-glazed and non-opening); and the reduction in the side extension’s overall 
height will (to some extent) improve the availability of light to no. 53’s northern windows. 

 
7.19 Nonetheless, it is considered that the proposals will have some harmful impacts upon the 

amenity of the neighbouring dwelling at 53 South Parade. The proximity and height of the 
extension will undoubtedly have some negative impacts on no. 53’s northern elevation in 
terms of over-shadowing/loss of light and loss of outlook; this is as a result of the overall scale 
of the extension and the proposed proximity to the common boundary. These impacts would 
result in change to the relationships between the properties, but would in any event have a 
negative impact on 53 South Parade, but that harm is considered to be at the lower end of 
the scale.  

 
7.20 Whilst the proposals would result in harmful impacts it is considered that these will not (in 

themselves) be sufficiently severe to merit a refusal of planning permission. The impacts on 
outlook will affect one window only, which serves a non-habitable room (the kitchen). Views 
from this window are already constrained by a boundary hedge and, although the proposals 
will have a greater impact than the hedge, it is considered that the severity of these additional 
impacts will not be sufficient to merit a refusal. Further, the impacts on the availability of 
daylight will affect two windows, which serve the bathroom and the kitchen. Given that 
neither window serves a ‘habitable’ room, and given that the kitchen area receives light from 
significant areas of glazing in the dwelling’s western elevation (via the open-plan lounge), it is 
considered that the severity of these impacts will be insufficient to merit a refusal. It is also 
noted that within the wider locality there are examples of similar close relationships between 
properties (either as original or as altered/extended) and whilst each case must be considered 
on its own merits, this does add positive weight to the proposals. 

Page 42



 

 

 
7.21 Consequently it is considered that, on balance, the scale of the harmful impacts will not be 

unacceptable, and that the proposals therefore meet these requirements of Policies 2, and 3 
of the SELLP. Furthermore it is Officers opinion that the impacts arising from this development 
would be insufficient a refusal at Appeal. Overall, therefore, it is considered that this scheme 
is acceptable in its own right, and when compared to the previously refused scheme has 
addressed a number of the issues raised at that time. 

 
 Flood risk 

 
7.22 Policy 4 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development is not unnecessarily exposed 

to flood risk, and does not increase flood risk elsewhere. The application is accompanied by a 
completed ‘Householder and other minor extensions in Flood Zones 2 and 3’ form which 
indicates that: floor levels within the proposed extensions will be no lower than existing 
levels; the householder will sign up to flood warnings; sockets will be raised; non-return valves 
will be fitted to drainage; and resilient plaster or plasterboard laid horizontally will be used.  

 
7.23 It is considered that the proposals meet the requirements of Policy 4. 
 
 
 

8.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
8.1 Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless materials considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-defined in 
case law that the development plan (in this case the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036) should be taken as a whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up the extent to 
which proposals are in accordance with/conflict with policies of the development plan and 
their objectives, along with all relevant materials considerations. The weight attributed to 
each of these factors within the exercise is known as the ‘planning balance’. 

 

8.2       It is considered the proposals will have no adverse impact on the character and appearance 
of the area (subject to a condition re. materials) and are acceptable in flood risk terms. Whilst 
there would remain to be some detrimental impacts upon the amenities of 53 South Parade, 
on balance the overall effect on neighbours’ amenity is not considered to be unacceptable or 
severe, subject to the conditions as recommended. Overall, it is considered that the proposals 
have addressed some of the previous areas of concern raised by the refused scheme. 
Therefore, on balance, it is considered that the proposals are in accordance with the policies 
of the development plan when taken as a whole, and thus, should be granted permission 
subject to the conditions as recommended as set out in this report.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

 

 
 

9.0 Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Committee GRANT Planning Permission, subject to the following 

conditions and reasons:- 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four years from 

the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

application received 08-Oct-2020 and in accordance with the associated plans referenced:  
 

 Drawing Number 02 Revision A – Proposed Plans; and 
 Drawing Number 03 Revision A – Proposed Elevations. 
 

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the approved details, 
in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with Policies 2, 3, 4 and 30 of the South 
East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and/or re-enacting that Order) 
during construction of the development the proposed first-floor windows in the rear 
(western) elevation of the side extension hereby permitted shall be non-opening and 
permanently glazed in obscure glass at a minimum level of no. 3 as shown in the Pilkington 
five levels of obscuration privacy. Following installation, there shall be no changes to these 
windows, or any new windows added within the extension. 

 
Reason: To prevent a loss of privacy for 53 South Parade and to protect the level of amenity 
which would ensure the development accords with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
4. No development above ground level shall take place until details of the materials proposed 

to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extensions hereby approved 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the extensions are in keeping with the character of the area in 
accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

Page 44



 

 
 
 
 
 

REPORT TO: Planning Committee 

DATE: 15th December 2020 

SUBJECT: Receipt of Appeal Decisions 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Nigel Welton 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Gildersleeves – Assistant Director – Planning 

EXEMPT REPORT? 

 

No 

 

 
SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to advise members of the receipt of appeal decisions received since 
the previous report. 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Committee are asked to note this report and the decisions attached. 
 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 

To address the Service Plan 2020/21 and provide an update on performance/outcomes. 
  

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 It is established practice that all appeal decisions are reported to Planning Committee as part 
of performance monitoring and to consider if any particular decisions raise issues which 
might influence practice or future decision making.  
 

1.2 All applicants have a right of appeal against the decision of the planning authority, over a 
refusal, an approval with conditions (if the conditions are unacceptable to the applicant) and 
in cases of ‘non-determination’ where the authority has not issued a decision within the 
prescribed 8 or 13-week period without an agreed ‘extension of time’. The right of appeal 
applies to all categories and types of applications – including Enforcement and other Notices 
where there are defined categories or grounds of appeal which an appellant has to follow. 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 2



 

 

2.0 APPEAL DECISIONS  
 
  

Location Bramley House, Wainfleet Road, Boston, PE21 9RW 

Reference B/18/0472 

Proposal Resubmission of B/18/0291 for the erection of detached 1.5 storey 
annexe 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Allowed 

Appeal Date 04-Mar-2020 
 

The Appeal was allowed and planning permission was granted. 
 
The Inspector noted the previously dismissed Appeal for a similar proposal. Changes to the scheme 
(including removal of balcony and amenity space) made the accommodation more akin to an annexe 
and the appellant stated the accommodation was for elderly family members. The Inspector found 
that the accommodation would be functionally linked to Bramley House and would be ancillary. 
 
The Inspector found the design had improved and was in keeping with Bramley House and would be 
subservient, concluding there would be no adverse impact on the character of the area. 
 
In respect of the impact on neighbouring properties, the inspector concluded the proposed use 
would not result in any detrimental impact given the scale and nature of the proposal. 
 
 

Location Sycamore  House, Rookery Road, Bicker, Boston, PE20 3DB 

Reference B/19/0065 

Proposal Outline application for a residential development 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 10-Mar-2020 
 

The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The Inspector noted the location outside of the settlement boundary for Bicker and found no 
evidence that the proposal is necessary at this location nor that it would meet the sustainable 
development needs of the area in terms of economic, community and environmental benefits. The 
appeal proposal, therefore, fails to accord with Policy 1 of the LP.  
 
The intention to construct attached housing on the site, which would help meet a generally 
acknowledged need for low cost housing, was not seen as a justification.  The site is located near to 
a primary school and shops, however it is likely that future occupants would still be heavily reliant 
upon the private car for accessing higher order facilities – noting that the nearest bus stop would be 
350 metres away from the appeal site and this would act as a significant impediment to the use of 
public transport. The Inspector accepted that the site would be a windfall site and its development 
would not result in the loss of valuable agricultural land, however as a consequence of its location 
this did not add support to the development proposal. 

Page 46



 

 
 
 

Location 106, Robin Hoods Walk, Boston, PE21 9LQ 

Reference B/19/0116 

Proposal Erection of 1 detached two storey dwelling 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 17-Mar-2020 
 

The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
Noting the established characteristics of the area, the Inspector found the proposed building would 
be significantly taller than existing bungalows and would be highly visible. Overall, the proposed 
dwelling would not be in keeping with the street scene and would detract from the character and 
appearance of the area. It was accepted that that the height is necessary to mitigate flood risk, 
however this does not justify the harm that would be caused to the character and appearance of the 
area. 
 
For these reasons, the proposal would cause harm to the character and appearance of the area and 
therefore would be contrary to policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2019), 
which, amongst other things, require high quality design and that development is appropriate to the 
site. 
 
 

Location Land adjacent to 69, Middlegate Road West, Frampton, Boston, PE20 
1DA 

Reference B/19/0144 

Proposal Two-storey detached dwelling 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 20-Mar-2020 
 

The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The Inspector noted the previous refusal for a similar proposal on similar grounds. 
 
The existing character of the area and mix of buildings was noted. The Inspector found the proposal 
would be very close to no.67 and that resultant dwelling would appear cramped and not in keeping. 
The raised floor levels were noted and these would be incongruous within the street scene. The 
western gable would also appear stark and out of keeping. 
Views over the garden of number 13 Grosvenor Road would occur. Equally, the proposal would cause 
overbearing impacts on number 67 Middlegate Road West. Concerns also related to the relationship 
with number 69. 
 
Overall, the proposal was found to be contrary to policies 2 and 3 of the Local Plan. 
 
 

Page 47



 

 
 

Location Land off Penny Gardens, Penny Gardens, Boston, Kirton, PE20 1HN 
 

Reference B/19/0180 

Proposal Erection of 7 terraced two storey dwellings 

Delegated / Committee Non-determination Appeal 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 09-Jun-2020 

Costs decision Dismissed 
 

The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The Inspector noted the character and appearance of the area, describing it in detail. The Appeal 
scheme was noted as being characterised by hardstanding, being stark and out of character. The 
inspector found the development attractive in design but the layout was car dominated and contrary 
to the character and appearance of the area. 
 
The relationships between plots within the development was also found to be unacceptable. 
 
Insufficient information relating to drainage had been supplied to sufficiently demonstrate that the 
development would not result in any adverse impacts. 
 
As such, the proposal was found to be contrary to policies 2, 3 and 4. 
 
Costs decision - The application for costs is refused. 
 
The Appellant claimed that the Council failed to communicate regularly; failed to provide consistent 
advice; and failed to make a timely decision. 
 
The Inspector found disagreement between the Appellants position and that put forward by the 
Council.   
It was identified that the decision was not made in time, but that in itself does not represent 
unreasonable behaviour. Equally, it was noted that whilst Officers may have previously offered a 
view on the scheme, the final view of the authority is not available until a decision is issued, again 
this does not in itself represent unreasonable behaviour. 
 
The Inspector found the Council had justified its position in respect of all matters, and did not find 
unreasonable behaviour by the Council, and thus the claim was refused. 
 
 

Location Land to the west of Cherry Tree Lodge, Swineshead Road, Frampton 

Reference B/19/0441 

Proposal Outline application for the erection of 2 detached dwellings 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Allowed 

Appeal Date 09-Jun-2020 

 

Page 48



 

The Appeal was allowed. 
 
The Inspector noted the outline nature of the appeal proposal, with all matters reserved. 
 
The Inspector noted the countryside location and applied policy 1 as the starting point. They noted 
that Policy 1 states that development will be permitted in the Countryside that is necessary to such 
a location and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs of 
the area in terms of economic, community or environmental benefits.  
 

The Inspector advised: “Based on the evidence before me, the proposal would not necessitate a 
countryside location. Where the policy refers to the sustainable development needs of the area, this 
is not, in my view, so broad as to include housing development of the type proposed. Hence, it would 
not accord with the circumstances in the Countryside where development will be permitted. The 
defined settlement boundary ends only a short distance from the site, which I return to later in my 
decision. Nonetheless, this does not alter the strict lack of compliance, under Policy 1.” Concluding 
that the suite would not be in a suitable location for housing. 
 
The accessibility of local services on foot, and the bus service in to Boston was noted. The Inspector 
found that as a consequence, greater dependency on the use of the car was unlikely. 
 
The Inspector found that: “As this is a matter of planning judgement concerning where the services 
are located in relation to the site and their accessibility, the extent of the settlement boundary is not 
determinative. The SELLP refers to shops, services and public transport in relation to defining such 
boundaries, but there is not the substantive evidence before me that suggests this is the reason why 
this boundary has been delineated as it is.” Concluding that the site had reasonable access to services 
and thus would comply with policy 2 & 3. 
 
The inspector also gave weight to the NPPF. 
 
Within the Planning Balance, the Inspector gave weight to the provision of housing which 
outweighed a lack of compliance with policy 1. The Inspector concluding that:  
“Taking these matters together, the benefits that would arise would outweigh the harm. In this case, 
this is a material consideration that outweighs the conflict with the development plan as a whole and 
indicates that planning permission should be granted for development that is not in accordance with 
it.” 
 
 

Location Former New Castle Inn and adjoining land on Lister Way, 36 Fydell 
Street 

Reference B/18/0370 

Proposal Erection of 3 three storey apartment blocks consisting of 55 flats 

Delegated / Committee Committee 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 09-Jul-2020 

 
The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The Appeal surrounded 3 key issues – parking, character and living conditions. 

Page 49



 

 
Parking provision - Inspector noted the policy requirement for 105 parking spaces and 55 cycle 
spaces, but found the location was suitable for non-car occupation as a result of the location and 
access to facilities and services. However, they considered the occupants would be likely to have a 
car, and no innovative measures (such as car clubs) had been proposed to mitigate the reduced levels 
of parking. They noted that the parking standards can be applied flexibly, but in this case adequate 
provision for parking would not be provided. They noted the lack of on-street parking and as such, 
found the proposals contrary to policies 2, 3 and 36. 
 
Character - Found the facades overbearing, lacking in articulation and interest, and felt that the scale 
and proximity could undermine the potential development of land to the east. Raised floor levels 
would increase the bulk of the building. Found the design concept acceptable in principle, but found 
issues with the overall scale of the blocks, with little scope for landscaping. Concluding that the 
benefits of regeneration would not outweigh the issues caused by overdevelopment. 
 
Living conditions - The Inspector considered that there was insufficient information to demonstrate 
that adverse impacts on the amenities of existing residents on Fydell Street would not occur.  
 
Conclusion - Having applied the Planning Balance, the Inspector concluded that the harm arising 
would not be outweighed by the benefits occurring, and thus the Appeal was dismissed. 
 

 

Location Oldham House, Main Road, Wrangle, Boston, PE22 9AT 

Reference B/19/0107 

Proposal Change of use from Nursery and Farm Shop to Garden centre etc 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 23-Jul-2020 

 
The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The inspector found that the effects of the proposed use would differ fundamentally from its historic 
situation, but no significant harm would result. Appropriate conditions could be imposed to further 
mitigate the impact arising. 
 
The proposed use in this appeal includes the manufacture of fencing, gates, decking, sheds and other 
miscellaneous timber products as a primary and significant element of the intended mixed use of 
the site. The Inspector considered it essential that noise from the use of machinery and tools on site, 
even if limited only to within the workshop building, do not unacceptably affect the living conditions 
of occupiers of nearby residential properties, identifying that an assessment of noise and its effects 
cannot in this case be left later to a planning condition. This is because the issue of whether noise 
can be adequately controlled and appropriately mitigated is critical as to whether planning 
permission should be granted at all. 
 
As no assessment had been undertaken by a qualified person, the proposal was considered to have 
an unacceptable impact. The proposal being contrary to policies 2, 3 and 30. 
 
 

Page 50



 

Location 187, Sleaford Road, Boston, PE21 7PG 

Reference B/20/0024 

Proposal Erection of a 1.8m high fence 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 29-Sep-2020 

 
The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The effect of the fence on the character and appearance of the area was the main determining issue. 
Having considered the existing character, the Inspector found that because of its height, length and 
prominence it would be an obtrusive and incongruous feature in the street scene and would detract 
from the attractive landscaped character. 
 
The Inspector advised that there was no evidence to suggest that the proposed enclosure was the 
only option to provide security for the site. 
 
Conflict with policy 2 of the Local Plan was found. 
 
 

Location Rear of Gunby House, 21, Sibsey Road, Boston, PE21 9QY 

Reference B/20/0107 

Proposal Outline application for residential development (1 plot) 

Delegated / Committee Delegated 

Appeal Decision Dismissed 

Appeal Date 12-Nov-2020 

Costs decision Dismissed 

 
The Appeal was dismissed. 
 
The Inspector considered 2 key issues, the impact on neighbouring amenity, and the impact on the 
character of the area. 
 
It was found that although the driveway would run close to number 19, the established boundary 
would provide a suitable noise buffer. Regarding the impact on number 21, although noise was not 
considered significant, it would still be noticeable over the background noise levels emanating from 
the main road. In combination with the proximity of habitable room windows and the general 
proximity and lack of boundary details, the proposal would have an unacceptable impact on number 
21. 
 
The Inspector noted the characteristics of the area, including the long-plots, spacious pattern and 
extent of tree cover and vegetation, in addition, the Inspector noted the Boston Gate development 
but also acknowledged the thinning out of development as you move northwards. 
 
The opening up of the new driveway and its length were noted and considered to have a harsh and 
stark appearance. The proposal would consolidate the pattern of development in a harmful way. 
 
 

Page 51



 

 
The inspector noted the position of no 25A, which was approved in 1988, and did not consider that 
this formed a basis for approval as the policy context had changed. 
 
Regarding the Boston Gate development, the Inspector found that this was closer aligned to the 
character of development to the south and thus its context was subtly different. 
 
Overall the inspector concluded that the proposal would cause material harm to the spacious and 
verdant character and appearance of the area and in this respect would fail to accord with LP Policies 
2 and 3 which seek to ensure that new development responds to the amenity and character and 
appearance of an area and maximises opportunities to improve its character and quality. 
 
Applying the planning balance, the Inspector concluded that the development was unacceptable. 
That the proposal would cause material harm to the living conditions of the occupiers of No 21 and 
to the character and appearance of the area and these aspects of the scheme would conflict with 
the development plan, read as a whole. There are no material considerations in this case to justify a 
decision other than in accordance with the development plan. 
 
Costs decision - The application for costs is refused. 
 
The Appellant claimed that the Council failed to accept the Boston Gate development as a reason 
for granting permission. Equally, it was claimed that the Council failed to give regard to the revised 
submission. Finally, they challenged the use of Delegated Powers to determine the application. 
The Inspector found the Council had justified its position in respect of all matters, and did not find 
unreasonable behaviour by the Council, and thus the claim was refused. 
 
 

3.0 COMMENTS ON DECISIONS FROM ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – PLANNING 
 
3.1 Whilst this is a lengthy update in terms of the number of decisions being reported, it is 

pleasing to note that 8 decisions and 2 costs decisions went in the Councils favour – in all of 
those cases the Council was able to fully demonstrate and evidence its position, and it was 
pleasing to note that Local Plan policy was performing well (in particular policies 2 and 3). 

 
3.2 It was particularly pleasing to note that the 2 costs claims were dismissed, although there 

remain learning outcomes from both experiences; particularly Penny Gardens (a non-
determination Appeal) which surrounded a series of unfortunate events (including numerous 
changes of case officer at a difficult time for the service) although the planning decision was 
also dismissed thus the Councils position was well founded. It was pleasing to note that the 
Inspector found no fault on Gunby House, and also dismissed the Appeal, an earlier iteration 
of which was refused by the Planning Committee.  

 

3.3 Members may also wish to note that since the Appeal decisions on Penny Gardens and 106 
Robin Hoods Walk, alternative schemes have since been agreed and permissions granted. 

 

3.4 For the 2 allowed schemes; whilst the outcomes are disappointing, the reasons are   
understood.  

 
 

Page 52



 

 
 

3.5 The annexe at Bramley House had overcome a previous decision in the eyes of the Inspector 
and essentially was justified on the basis of need and lack of impact.  

 
3.6 Cherry Tree Lodge highlights the importance of the planning balance, particularly when 

considering the matter of housing provision and delivery. Of note, the inspector found that 
the settlement boundary was more than a line on a plan, and there was a need to consider 
connectivity, accessibility and the general characteristics of the area. In essence, the 
Inspector concluded that whilst the proposals were contrary to the starting point of the plan 
(policy 1) there were other policies and material considerations, which weighed in favour of 
permission being granted. The inspector placed weight to the provision of housing. This is 
important in terms of the application of Section 38(6) of the Act, and the matter of planning 
balance, which has moved on considerably in recent years through evolution of decisions and 
case law. In short, conflict with one particular policy or element of a policy of a Local Plan 
should no longer be seen as a basis for refusing development, and there is a need to consider 
matters in the round. Whilst the decision is disappointing, Officers consider it does not 
undermine the development plan, simply it shows how different decision-makers can reach 
different conclusions, particularly when considering matters of housing growth and 
sustainability. It is considered that this does not set a precedent for future decision-making. 

 
3.7 Overall, our Appeal performance remains good and is better than national target over the 

rolling 2 year period. This is a good indicator of the quality of decision taking. This is also 
considered to be reflective of the current position with the adopted local plan, which will 
have an effect in terms of guiding development and reducing the Councils exposure to 
speculative applications. 

 
 

4.0 PERFORMANCE 
 
4.1 The Council has received 10 decisions from 1st March 2020 to 30th November 2020, of which 

2 were allowed and 8 were dismissed. We have also had 2 dismissed costs claims. 
 
4.2 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) monitors authorities 

in relation to the number of major and non-major applications overturned (i.e. allowed) at 
appeal.  The threshold is for fewer than 20% of all major applications determined overturned 
at appeal over a rolling two-year period (i.e. the total number of major decisions divided by 
the total number overturned).  For authorities who exceed this target, they will be classed as 
‘poorly performing’ and applications for major developments may be made by developers 
directly to the Planning Inspectorate. MHCLG also monitor the threshold for quality of 
decisions for non-major applications, the threshold for which is 10%.  Like the major 
threshold, this is the total number of non-major applications overturned at appeal compared 
to the total number of non-major decisions made.   

 
4.3 The following tables set out the Councils position in relation to the rolling two-year period. 

In this case between 1st December 2018 to 30th November 2020: 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

 

2 year - Appeals performance - 
Majors 

  
2 year - Appeals performance -   Non-
Major 

Total number 
of decisions 

48   
Total number 
of decisions 

679 

Total number 
of Appeals 

2   
Total number 
of Appeals 

25 

Dismissed  2   Dismissed  15 

Allowed 0   Allowed 9 

Withdrawn 0   Withdrawn 1 

% indicator 
(majors 
allowed / 
total number 
of decisions) 

0%   

% indicator 
(non-majors 
allowed / total 
number of 
decisions) 

1.35% 

4.4 Given the aforementioned performance, the Council is therefore significantly within 
government’s target and not at risk of being classed as poorly performing. 

  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
None 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
None 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
None 

 

CONSULTATION   None undertaken 
 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 
 

Document title 
Appeal decision –  
 

Planning  References:   

 B/18/0472 

 B/19/0065 

 B/19/0116 

 B/19/0144 

 B/19/0180 + Costs decision 

 B/19/0441 

 B/18/0370 

 B/19/0107 + Costs decision 

 B/20/0024 

 B/20/0107 

Where the document can be viewed 
 
 
All application documents are available via 
the Councils website using the relevant 
details. 

 

Page 54


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B.20.0384
	Report

	2 RECEIPT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

